NIHR National Institute for Health and Care Research



Extended Research Article

.

The clinical utility and safety of biomarker-guided immunosuppression withdrawal in liver transplantation: the LIFT prospective RCT

Julien Vionnet,^{1,2} Rosa Miquel,^{1,3} Juan G Abraldes,⁴ Juan-Jose Lozano,⁵ Pablo Ruiz,⁶ Miquel Navasa,⁶ Aileen Marshall,⁷ Frederik Nevens,⁸ William Gelson,⁹ Joanna Leithead,⁹ Steven Masson,¹⁰ Elmar Jaeckel,¹¹ Richard Taubert,¹¹ Phaedra Tachtatzis,¹² Dennis Eurich,¹³ Kenneth Simpson,¹⁴ Eliano Bonaccorsi-Riani,¹⁵ James Ferguson,¹⁶ Alberto Quaglia,⁷ Maria Elstad,¹⁷ Marc Delord,¹⁷ Abdel Douiri,¹⁷ and Alberto Sánchez-Fueyo^{1*}

¹Institute of Liver Studies, King's College London University and King's College Hospital, London, UK

²Transplantation Center and Service of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University Hospital of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

- ³Liver Histopathology Laboratory, King's College Hospital, London, UK
- ⁴Liver Unit, Division of Gastroenterology, Centre of Excellence for Gastrointestinal Inflammation and Immunity
- Research, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada
- ⁵Bioinformatic Platform, Biomedical Research Center in Hepatic and Digestive Diseases (CIBEREHD), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Spain
- ⁶Hospital Clinic, Barcelona, Spain
- ⁷Royal Free Hospital, London, UK
- ⁸University Hospital KU Leuven, Belgium
- ⁹Addenbrooke's Hospital, Cambridge, UK
- ¹⁰Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
- ¹¹Medizinische Hochschule Hannover, Hannover, Germany
- ¹²Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Leeds, UK
- ¹³Charité, Berlin, Germany
- ¹⁴Edinburgh Royal Infirmary, Edinburgh, UK
- ¹⁵Liver Transplant Unit, Cliniques Universitaires St-Luc, Brussels, Belgium
- ¹⁶Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Birmingham, UK
- ¹⁷School of Population Health and Environmental Sciences, King's College London, London, UK

*Corresponding author sanchez_fueyo@kcl.ac.uk

Published April 2025 DOI: 10.3310/FWXV5380

Plain language summary

The clinical utility and safety of biomarker-guided immunosuppression withdrawal in liver transplantation: the LIFT prospective RCT

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation 2025; Vol. 12: No. 3 DOI: 10.3310/FWXV5380

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Plain language summary

A fter liver transplantation, the body's immune system may reject the transplanted organ. In order to prevent rejection, the immune system has to be weakened or suppressed by administering anti-rejection medications. The majority of liver transplant patients need to take the anti-rejection drugs for life, which can be problematic due to their many side effects. However, years after transplantation, a small group of patients can stop their anti-rejection drugs without undergoing rejection. This phenomenon is known as transplantation tolerance. In a study completed in 2012, it was possible to identify liver transplant patients who had developed tolerance with high precision by conducting a genetic test in a liver biopsy.

The objective of the current clinical trial was to validate this test of tolerance. This was done by enrolling patients more than 3 years after transplantation and allocating them at random to two groups. All the patients in group A had their anti-rejection medication gradually discontinued, while in group B only those patients who had a positive test result had their anti-rejection medication weaned. The expectation was that more patients would be able to stop their anti-rejection medication in group B than in group A.

One hundred and twenty-two patients were enrolled in the trial, out of whom 80 patients attempted to discontinue the anti-rejection drugs, while 34 patients maintained their normal medications. Among patients who attempted to stop anti-rejection drugs, 67.5% developed rejection, 27.5% completely stopped the anti-rejection drugs, but 16% were considered as truly tolerant after having had a liver biopsy. Overall, drug discontinuation was successful in a much lower proportion of patients than originally predicted. Furthermore, the test of tolerance was not accurate enough to identify tolerant patients before initiating anti-rejection drug discontinuation. As a result of the diagnostic test not performing as expected, the trial had to be terminated prematurely.

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation

ISSN 2050-4373 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) was launched in 2014 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, Ulrichsweb[™] (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and NCBI Bookshelf.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full EME archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/eme.

Criteria for inclusion in the Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation journal

Manuscripts are published in *Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation* (EME) if (1) they have resulted from work for the EME programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

EME programme

The Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) programme funds ambitious studies evaluating interventions that have the potential to make a stepchange in the promotion of health, treatment of disease and improvement of rehabilitation or long-term care. Within these studies, EME supports research to improve the understanding of the mechanisms of both diseases and treatments.

The programme supports translational research into a wide range of new or repurposed interventions. These may include diagnostic or prognostic tests and decision-making tools, therapeutics or psychological treatments, medical devices, and public health initiatives delivered in the NHS.

The EME programme supports clinical trials and studies with other robust designs, which test the efficacy of interventions, and which may use clinical or well-validated surrogate outcomes. It only supports studies in humans and where there is adequate proof of concept. The programme encourages hypothesis-driven mechanistic studies, integrated within the efficacy study, that explore the mechanisms of action of the intervention or the disease, the cause of differing responses, or improve the understanding of adverse effects. It funds similar mechanistic studies linked to studies funded by any NIHR programme.

The EME programme is funded by the Medical Research Council (MRC) and the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR), with contributions from the Chief Scientist Office (CSO) in Scotland and National Institute for Social Care and Health Research (NISCHR) in Wales and the Health and Social Care Research and Development (HSC R&D), Public Health Agency in Northern Ireland.

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the EME programme as award number 13/94/55. The contractual start date was in April 2015. The draft manuscript began editorial review in February 2023 and was accepted for publication in July 2024. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The EME editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research. The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the MRC, the EME programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the EME programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2025 Vionnet *et al.* This work was produced by Vionnet *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).